
Tender Reference Number: IND/INV/21-22/SIRU-1002 

Response to pre-bid queries related to RFP for Selection of Research Agency for SIRU 

 

S.No Statement Query Section Page 
No.  

Invest India 
Response  

1.  Without diluting the 
concept of total 
responsibility of the 
Agency awarded the 
Contract, short listed 
Agency/entity may 
associate with other 
short-listed Agency: 
Prior approval of 
Invest India required.  

Can we take 
the approval 
after award of 
the contract? 

Datasheet  16 Prior approval needs 
to be taken by the 
selected agency 
before associating or 
sub-contracting of 
work. 

2.  Training is a specific 
component of this 
assignment:  
 

What kind of 
training is 
referred to? 
Can you please 
give some 
examples? 

Datasheet 16 ‘Training’ here refers 
to training provided 
by agency to its 
consultants to fulfil 
the objectives of the 
project.  

3.  Valid for 120 days – 
two budgets with 12 
weeks/ 90 days, 16 
weeks/ 120 days  
 

Why do we 
need the 
proposal to be 
valid for more 
than the 
duration of the 
project? Are 
we required to 
give two 
budgets? First 
for 12 weeks/ 
90 days and 
Second for 16 
weeks/ 120 
days? Under 
what 
circumstances 
would the 
duration of the 
study be 
extended to 16 
weeks/120 
days? What 
happens if 
there is a delay 
on part of 
client to give 
comment or 

Datasheet - 
Proposal 
Validity 

17 The proposals as per 
Invest India rules are 
supposed to be valid 
for a period 120 
days post last date 
of submission which 
cannot be changed 
or modified by the 
bidder. This clause is 
not in contradiction 
to the scope of 
work.  
The bidder has to 
provide the budget 
and proposal as per 
scope of work only.  
 



inputs or 
support letter. 

4.  Demonstrated level of 
understanding of the 
project, its purpose, 
scope, and required 
services as detailed in 
scope of work, key 
challenges and the 
plan for overcoming 
those challenges 
during the entire 
lifecycle of the project.  
 

How is 
understanding 
of the TOR 
adjudged? 

Datasheet - 
Terms of 
Reference 

19 The understanding 
of the TOR would be 
adjudged while 
presenting to the 
evaluation 
committee (scope, 
overall objective of 
the RFP, 
understanding of the 
project) based on 
the points already 
mentioned in the 
RFP during the 
technical evaluation.  

5.  Comprehensiveness of 
plan with respect to all 
activities that need to 
be undertaken to 
meet the 
requirements 
specified in the scope 
of work. There are 5 
points, namely, 
  
Ii Quality of the 
solution including 
innovations,  
Iii Resource 
deployment, planning 
and allocation,  
Iv Data collection and 
reporting strategy, 
V Exit Management 
Plan  

Will each point 
be scored 
equally – that 
is 6 marks to 
make up 30 
marks. Also, 
what do you 
mean by exit 
management 
plan. We need 
clarification on 
exit 
management 
plan.   

Datasheet - 
Terms of 
Reference 

19 Each point will be 
scored equally.  
 
Exit Management 
Plan in this case 
refers to the 
methodology and 
format in which the 
final report/s of the 
project are delivered 
to Invest India.  

6.  Work Plan  
Appropriateness of 
prescribed time 
frames. (Based on 
work order of 
assignments enclosed 
along with the 
Technical proposal, 
marks will be 
assigned.)   

What do you 
mean by - 
appropriatenes
s of prescribed 
time frame? 
Please clarify 

Datasheet - 
Terms of 
Reference 

19 This would be 
adjudged on the 
basis of the technical 
evaluation which will 
study the plan of 
action to complete 
the project within 
the determined 
timelines.  

7.  Payment as per the 
Financial Bid amount 
will be monthly – at 
the end of every 
month, Form Fin 2 

These two 
points seems 
to contradict 
each other. 
Either payment 

Datasheet - 
Payment 
terms 

21 The payment terms 
are complimentary 
to each other as 
monthly payments 
will be released to 



subject to the 
satisfactory 
completion of 
deliverables specified 
in the scope of work. 

can be 
monthly, or it 
can be activity 
based. Given 
the short 
duration of the 
project, it can 
be based on 
delivery of 
certain 
milestones like 
inception 
report and 
draft report 
and final 

the agency based on 
the review of 
deliverables and 
target mentioned in 
the RFP.   
Monthly 
deliverables and 
targets will be based 
on mutual 
discussions. 
 

8.  The Monitoring 
Committee will 
conduct a fortnightly 
review of the project 
activities and 
deliverables to gauge 
output and to approve 
activities for the 
forthcoming period. 

What is the 
review 
process? Can 
we submit a 2 
page note on 
the status of 
the study? 

Datasheet - 
Payment 
terms 

21 The review process 
will be intimated to 
the finalised vendor 
as per standard 
Invest India process 
along with the 
fortnightly 
deliverables and 
overall scope 
mentioned in the 
RFP. The format will 
be mutually 
discussed basis the 
requirements of the 
project. 

9.  In Notes of Page 58 it 
is mentioned that - 
The prices stated 
should be on the per 
seat basis.   

What do you 
mean by per 
seat basis? 

Fin Form -2  58 The prices stated 
should be as per 
deliverable basis 
provided in the 
scope of work and 
terms of reference. 

10.  The RFP mentions on 
Page 50 - “You should 
also explain the 
methodologies you 
propose to adopt for 
query handling and 
highlight the 
compatibility of those 
methodologies with 
the proposed 
approach. The bidder 
should explain 
methodology adopted 
for handling queries 

What does 
‘methodologies 
for query 
handling’ refer 
to? 

Tech form - 4 50 This refers to any 
query raised by 
Invest India during 
the course of the 
project and 
assigning of 
designated 
personnel to 
respond to such 
queries which may 
be raised by Invest 
India from time to 
time pertaining to 
deliverables and 
scope of work and 



and maintaining the 
database.”  

also for ensuring 
sanctity and security 
of data gathered 
during the course of 
this project. 

11.  Neither consultants 
(including their 
personnel and sub-
consultants) nor any 
of their affiliates shall 
be hired for any 
assignment that, by its 
nature, may be in 
conflict with another 
assignment of the 
consultants.   

ICRIER 
researchers will 
not be able to 
meet this 
condition as we 
are working on 
FDI for G20 for 
the Ministry of 
Finance and in 
Ease of Doing 
Business 
project for the 
FCDO, UK with 
DPIIT being the 
proposed user 
department. 
We are already 
hired to work 
on FDI.  We are 
working on 
greenfield and 
brownfield 
projects under 
G20 – Finance 
Track 

General 
Conditions 

29 Based on the 
information 
provided in the 
query, there does 
not seem to be any 
conflict of interest 
since all the 
organisation/s 
mentioned (Ministry 
of Finance, DPIIT 
etc) are affiliates of 
the Government of 
India, as is Invest 
India.  
 

12.  For the due 
performance of the 
assignment in 
accordance with the 
terms and conditions 
specified, the selected 
Agency shall on the 
day or before signing 
the contract which 
shall not be later than 
30 (thirty) days from 
the issue of the Letter 
of Award, furnish to 
Invest India a 
performance security 
in the form of an 
irrevocable Bank 
Guarantee for an 
amount of 10% of the 
bid in the form of an 
irrevocable Bank 

Since ICRIER is 
an NGO and 
works on not-
for-profit basis 
can we be 
treated in the 
same way and 
start-ups or 
MSME and be 
given the 
waiver. 
Alternatively 
Invest India can 
keep a certain 
percentage 
linked with 
final delivery 
instead of 
asking us to 
make payment. 

Bank 
Guarantee/E
MD 

30 In case of not-for-
profit 
organisations/NGOs, 
they can submit the 
Bank Guarantee 
which is equivalent 
to 3%.  
Kindly refer to 
corrigendum. 



Guarantee for an 
amount. 

13.  Should the assignment 
period, for whatever 
reason be extended, 
the bidder, shall at his 
own cost, get the 
validity period of Bank 
Guarantee in respect 
of performance 
security furnished by 
him extended and 
shall furnish the 
extended / revised 
Bank Guarantee to 
Invest India before the 
expiry date of the 
Bank Guarantee 
originally furnished.  

Instead of this 
complicated 
process in an 
Uncertain 
COVID 
situation, 
Invest India can 
keep a certain 
percentage 
linked with 
final delivery 
instead of 
asking us to 
make payment 
and then revise 
bank guarantee 
etc. What is 
needed is that 
Invest India is 
assured of the 
delivery and 
some payment 
equivalent to 
performance 
guarantee can 
be kept with 
Invest India for 
the same and 
be released 
after successful 
delivery. 

Bank 
Guarantee/E
MD 

31 No change. 
Standard Invest 
India Clause. 

14.  DPIIT recognized start-
ups & MSMEs are 
exempt from EMD. In 
this case we are 
referring to all the 
financial clauses like 
bid processing fee.  

ICRIER is like an 
MSME, an NGO 
of small size. 
Can we avail 
the MSME and 
start up 
exemptions 
please? Or else 
it is financially 
not possible to 
bid.   Post 
COVID-19 our 
working capital 
is tight. We are 
however 
willing to get 
payment linked 
to delivery and 

 
Bank 
Guarantee/E
MD 

33 Non-refundable bid 
processing fees is 
mandatory for all 
organisations 
irrespective of them 
being of DPIIT 
recognised Start-ups 
or MSME.  
NGOs/not-for-profit 
organisations can 
submit Corporate 
Guarantee in lieu of 
EMD. 
Kindly refer to the 
corrigendum. 
 



last instalment 
can be linked 
to successful 
delivery. 

15.  See clause 6.2.4 on 
company personnel. 
The Agency shall 
employ and provide at 
its own cost such 
qualified and 
experienced Personnel 
as are required to 
carry out the Services. 
Their salaries, claims, 
insurance, damages, 
compensation, travel 
etc. will be the liability 
of the Agency and 
Invest India will in no 
way be responsible for 
any such claims/ 
damages. 

Can we claim 
per day rate 
per person and 
number of days 
working on this 
project? 

Contractual 
Terms and 
Conditions 

76 All cost which shall 
be billed must be 
included as a part of 
the financial 
proposal submitted 
by the bidder as per 
Fin Form – 2 given in 
the RFP which must 
be inclusive of all 
taxes.  
No additional fees 
can be charged 
separately with 
respect to the 
resources deployed 
by the company. 

16.  If the deliverables are 
not acceptable to 
Invest India as 
mentioned in Clause 
6.2.6.3 (e), and defects 
are not rectified to the 
satisfaction of Invest 
India within 30 (Thirty) 
days of the receipt of 
the notice, the Agency 
shall be liable for 
Liquidated Damages 
for an amount equal 
to 1% (One Percent) of 
proportional cost of 
the services related to 
that deliverable for 
every week or part 
thereof for the delay.  

This clause is 
extremely rigid 
as what is an 
acceptable 
delivery is not 
defined. If 
rectification of 
defect requires 
access to data 
will Invest India 
provide it? 
What if there is 
COVID related 
lockdown and 
the delay in not 
in our control? 

Contractual 
Terms and 
Conditions 

81 For any delay not in 
the control of the 
vendor force 
Majeure clause is 
applicable. 
Acceptability of the 
works by relevant 
authority is must for 
completion of the 
project and not 
change can be done 
in that. Covid-
related lockdown 
delays would be 
considered. Data 
access is the 
responsibility of the 
bidder.  

17.  Scope of Work and 
Deliverables 
One of “the broad 
contours of the 
process of the study” 
that the Request for 
Proposal lists 
mentions “Inter-
country comparison 
including taxation 

Is there a 
minimum or 
maximum 
number of 
countries that 
are to be 
analysed as 
part of the 
study? Can we 
select 5 

Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 As per the scope of 
work and 
deliverables as a 
part of this project 
no maximum limit of 
countries to be 
studied is imposed, 
and as many 
countries as deemed 
necessary for the 



policies of royalty 
payments”. 

developed and 
5 developing 
countries? 

project should be 
included as per 
mutual discussions.  
 

18.  Economic decision-
making which guides 
greenfield and 
brownfield investment  

Please clarify 
this point, 
whose 
economic 
decision 
making? 

Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 The decision making 
of India, and of 
countries that 
compete with India 
for FDI inflow.  

19.  Comparative cross-
country analysis of 
most attractive 
sectoral policies for 
greenfield 
investments  

Can we select 
around 10 
countries? Do 
you have any 
country 
preferences/pri
orities?   

Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 As per the scope of 
work and 
deliverables as a 
part of this project 
no maximum limit of 
countries to be 
studied is imposed, 
and as many 
countries as deemed 
necessary for the 
project should be 
included as per 
mutual discussions.  
Focusing on closest 
competitors of India 
in terms of FDI 
inflow would also be 
suitable.   

20.  Beneficial economic 
impact as well as 
marked negative 
effects, if any.  

Are we looking 
at the impact 
on the 
country/state/r
egion or other 
domestic 
companies? 
FDI can crowd 
out domestic 
investment and 
can increase 
inequality by 
making certain 
regions more 
developed.  
Please clarify 
what you want 
us to focus on? 

Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 We are looking at 
country/state/region 
and any other 
stakeholders 
involved as part of 
the scope for this 
project. In the case 
of the royalties 
project, due care 
should be taken to 
consider key 
companies within 
sectors being 
studied.   

21.  As we understand we 
will be focusing on 7 
sectors, kindly let us 
know the sectors. 

 Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 Auto 
Pharmaceuticals 
FMCG 
Defence  
Electronics  



IT/es 
Manufacturing 
Note: These sectors 
are subject to 
change basis mutual 
discussion (if 
required).   

22.  Performance or 
success or failure is 
judged against a 
target.  When a 
company submit a 
proposal of FDI are 
economic impact 
looked at and if it is 
what are the criteria- 
can those be shared? 
Can we have some 
samples FDI 
brownfield and 
greenfield documents 
for review.  If not, can 
some examples 
targets that were 
proposed be shared? 

What is criteria 
or the aspects 
considered 
while judging 
the 
performance 
against a 
target? 

Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 FDI samples are not 
available, and as per 
need would be the 
responsibility of the 
research 
organisation who 
wins the project to 
procure. 
 
The evaluation of 
this entire proposal 
shall be done basis 
the parameters laid 
down with respect 
to understanding of 
scope of work, 
deliverables, project 
timelines and other 
aspects related to 
the RFP. 

23.  The study requires a 
detailed mapping of 
the repercussions of 
FDI reforms in 
respective sectors.  

a. Do we need to 
focus on all 
sectors or 10-
12 sectors 
which has 
been 
liberalised 
post the given 
period for 
example, 
retail, 
insurance, 
defence, etc.  

b. In terms of 
analysing the 
impact of FDI 
reforms on 
sustainable 
development, 

What sectors 
are being 
focused? 
Can the bidder 
select 10 key 
SDG sectors? 
Who will define 
the list of 
sectors? 
 

Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 a. While the sectors to 
be analysed as per 
each phase of 
reforms announced, 
and no maximum 
limit for sectors to 
be studied is 
imposed. This is to 
be decided through 
mutual consultation 
between the bidder 
and Invest India. 
However additional 
importance maybe 
given to the 
following sectors – 
Auto, 
Pharmaceuticals, 
FMCG, Defence  
Electronics, IT/es 
and Manufacturing.  
  

b. Due to the timelines, 
the contours of the 



what 
indicators 
should be 
used; 
employment, 
gender 
attributes, 
environment, 
etc.? The RFP 
mentions ‘the 
wide spectrum 
of SDGs’ (page 
61), however 
this is very 
broad and can 
we select 
around 10 key 
SDGs given 
the time 
constraints. 
Please specify 
the SDGs. 
Further, there 
is no 
secondary 
data on this 
and hence 
most of this 
will have to be 
captured 
through key 
informant 
interviews.  

c. When an FDI 
is approved, 
which SDGs 
does DPIIT 
look at?  Can 
you give us 
the list? 

research could be 
confined to a set of 
select key/ most 
important SDGs 
which should include 
environmental 
impact, employment 
impact, and gender 
impact.  
 

c. The last query is not 
applicable.  

24.  a. What 
indicators 
need to be 
analysed to 
examine the 
‘spill-over 
beneficial 
impact in 
other 
sectors’? 

What are the 
indicators 
which need to 
be analysed in 
sectors? 
 

Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 a. The reference here 
is to SDGs, and since 
there is no specific 
pre-investment 
vetting in terms of 
SDGs, a post-facto 
analysis is needed.  
 

b. No such list is 
available.  



b. When an FDI 
is approved, 
which SDGs 
indicators are 
examined?  
Can you give 
us the list (for 
example, best 
technology 
transfer)? 

25.  The RFP mentions 
‘dissecting FDI data 
from India and in 
comparison, relevant 
data from other 
countries.  
 

Are we looking 
at the data or 
the reforms 
leading to FDI 
inflows. Given 
the time 
constraints can 
you let us know 
which 
countries are a 
priority and 
how many 
countries 
should we 
select at the 
most. It is 
impossible to 
do more than 
5-6 countries 
and we may 
focus on 
developing 
countries.  
Many countries 
like Vietnam 
have not only 
liberalized but 
bound the 
liberalised FDI 
regimes in 
trade 
agreements. 

Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 There are two sets 
of countries that are 
priority in this: the 
countries from 
where the maximum 
amount of FDI has 
come into India in 
the last decade, and 
the countries that 
are in main 
competition in India 
for FDI flow. As per 
the scope of work 
and deliverables as a 
part of this project 
no maximum limit of 
countries to be 
studied is imposed, 
and as many 
countries as deemed 
necessary for the 
project should be 
included as per 
mutual discussions.  
 
    

26.  As we understand we 
will be focusing on 7 
sectors, kindly let us 
know the sectors. 
Sectors will vary for 
each of these studies. 
For example, in case 
of reforms retail may 
be a sector while for 

 Scope of 
Work and 
terms of 
Reference 

61 Auto 
Pharmaceuticals 
FMCG 
Defence  
Electronics  
IT/es 
Manufacturing  
Note: These sectors 
are subject to 



greenfield investment 
airport can be a 
sector. 

change basis mutual 
discussion (if 
required).   

27.  Can we apply for more 
than one Request For 
Proposal?  

How many 
projects can be 
applied for the 
Request For 
Proposal? 

General 
Conditions 

N/A All participating 
firms can, if they so 
wish, apply for one, 
or two, or all three 
of the RFPs that 
have been floated.  

28.  All the Bidder must 
submit a non-
refundable Bid 
Processing Fees of INR 
10,000 

Should there 
be 10,000 
rupees to be 
paid for each 
and every 
Request for 
Proposal? 

Bid 
Processing 
fees 

27 Yes, ₹10,000 non-
refundable bid 
processing fees is 
required to be paid 
for each RFP 
separately 

29.  The duration of this 
study should be 
between 8-12 weeks 
with a fortnightly 
progress review. 

Is it possible to 
extend the 
term of the 
project from 8-
12 weeks to a 
long-term 
project 
proposal? 

Period of 
Project 

N/A As of now the 
project timelines 
remain the same. 
However, this could 
be reconsidered due 
to the evolving 
Covid-19 situation, 
and lockdowns 
therein.   

30.  There are 3 projects 
under 'Selection of 
Research Agency for 
SIRU' that have 
different work scope 
but the qualifying 
criterias for each 
remain the same. I 
would like to know 
whether we are 
required to apply for 
all 3 projects in order 
to bid for this tender. 
This is in reference to 
IND/INV/21-22/SIRU-
1002 & IND/INV/21-
22/SIRU-1003. 

 Terms and 
Conditions 

N/A There is no 
mandatory 
requirement to 
apply for all the 
three projects. The 
bidders are at liberty 
to choose the 
projects they wish to 
apply for. They can 
choose to apply for 
one project, or two, 
or all three. 

31.  Bidder/Group 
Company/ Subsidiary/ 
Parental Company 
providing must have 
been in operation for 
at least 10 years in 
economic analytical 
research as on 1st 
March 2021 

Our company 
will complete 
10 years as of 
April 2021 and 
as per the 
qualifying 
criteria it 
should be 
March 2021. 

Pre-
qualification 
requirements 

12 Kindly refer to 
Corrigendum 



(Incorporation/ 
Registration 
Certificate required). 
[DPIIT Recognized 
Startups are exempt 
from this criterion] 

Can we still 
apply? 

32.  For project 1, 2 and 3, 
does the qualifications 
of the team lead and 
the project associate 
both require to be 
Masters, MPhil or a 
PhD in economics? 

 Evaluation 
Criteria 

18 Kindly refer to 
Corrigendum 

33.  The original proposals 
need to be submitted 
via email to 
procurement@investi
ndia.org.in [Cc to 
ankita.sharma@invest
india.org.in] and must 
be addressed to: 
Ankita Sharma Invest 
India. Vigyan Bhawan 
Annexe Maulana Azad 
Road | New Delhi 
110011 M: +91 
9711266726 

As per our 
understanding, 
there is no 
requirement of 
hard copies for 
technical and 
financial 
proposals. 
Please confirm. 

Submission of 
Proposals 

27 There is no 
requirement of hard 
copies. All files need 
to be submitted via 
soft copies as per 
the instructions 
given in clause 
2.21.1 of the RFP. 

34.  It would be helpful if 
Invest India could help 
us with the number & 
names of the sectors 
to be analysed for 
each of the RFP shared 
earlier 

 Terms of 
Reference 

60-
61 

Auto 
Pharmaceuticals 
FMCG 
Defence  
Electronics  
IT/es 
Manufacturing  
Note: These sectors 
are subject to 
change basis mutual 
discussion (if 
required). 

35.  In context of team 
profile, we would 
request you to 
consider the 
experience & 
qualification of the 
Project Associate. The 
professional 
qualification criteria 
for Project Associate 
of Masters, MPhil or a 
PhD in economics 

 Evaluation 
Criteria 

18 Kindly refer to 
Corrigendum. 



could be reviewed and 
experts in key sectors 
could be included in 
this role 

36.  Could Invest India 
please provide 
clarification on 
qualification and 
experience 
requirement of the 
team members 
involved in execution 
of the project, if 
anything specific is 
required 

 Evaluation 
Criteria 

18 This qualification 
criteria shall be as 
mentioned in the 
clause 18 of the 
datasheet and 
Corrigendum for 
experience.  

37.  Quality of the solution 
including innovations 
– please give examples 
to clarify how will you 
judge quality of 
solutions including 
innovations. It is 
difficult if not 
impossible to innovate 
in 12 weeks.   
Comprehensiveness of 
plan with respect to all 
activities that need to 
be undertaken to 
meet the 
requirements 
specified in the scope 
of work.  

Can we give a 
week-by-week 
plan? 

Terms of 
Reference 

19 Innovation would be 
adjudged on the 
basis of proposals 
submitted on how 
the bidder would 
proceed to fulfil the 
project, including 
the methodology of 
work.  
A week-by-week 
plan would be 
considered useful in 
understanding the 
plan of action of the 
bidder.   

38.  Referring scope of 
work and correlating 
the same with ref to 
experience 
requirement for the 
profile of Project 
Associate, if we 
allocate resource from 
Project Appraisal and 
Monitoring team who 
is post graduate and 
has relevant exposure 
in assessing Greenfield 
and Brownfield 
Investments and 
economic motivation 
behind the same.  

Will it suffice 
the 
requirement or 
Postgraduate 
professional 
qualification 
such as 
Masters, MPhil 
or a PhD in 
economics is 
mandatory? 

Terms of 
Reference 

19 Kindly refer to 
Corrigendum. 

 



 


